UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ

Colegio de Ciencias e Ingeniería

Iron Oxide Nanoparticles general approach and catalytic agents for the Environment: A Systematic Literature Review of Research and Applications.

.

Erick Fernando Valdez Romo

Ingeniería Química

Trabajo de fin de carrera presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Ingeniero Químico

Quito, 23 de diciembre de 2020

UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ Colegio de Ciencias e Ingeniería

HOJA DE CALIFICACIÓN DE TRABAJO DE FIN DE CARRERA

Iron Oxide Nanoparticles general approach and catalytic agents for the Environment: A Systematic Literature Review of Research and Applications.

Erick Fernando Valdez Romo

Nombre del profesor, Título académico

Daniela Almeida, Dr-Ing.

Quito, 23 de diciembre de 2020

© DERECHOS DE AUTOR

Por medio del presente documento certifico que he leído todas las Políticas y Manuales de la Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, incluyendo la Política de Propiedad Intelectual USFQ, y estoy de acuerdo con su contenido, por lo que los derechos de propiedad intelectual del presente trabajo quedan sujetos a lo dispuesto en esas Políticas.

Asimismo, autorizo a la USFQ para que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior del Ecuador.

Nombres y apellidos:	Erick Fernando Valdez Romo
Código:	00117504
Cédula de identidad:	1803920980
Lugar y fecha:	Quito, 23 de diciembre de 2020

ACLARACIÓN PARA PUBLICACIÓN

Nota: El presente trabajo, en su totalidad o cualquiera de sus partes, no debe ser considerado como una publicación, incluso a pesar de estar disponible sin restricciones a través de un repositorio institucional. Esta declaración se alinea con las prácticas y recomendaciones presentadas por el Committee on Publication Ethics COPE descritas por Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around theses publishing, disponible en http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

UNPUBLISHED DOCUMENT

Note: The following capstone project is available through Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ institutional repository. Nonetheless, this project – in whole or in part – should not be considered a publication. This statement follows the recommendations presented by the Committee on Publication Ethics COPE described by Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around theses publishing available on http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

RESUMEN

Esta revisión literaria trata sobre las nanopartículas de óxido de hierro que se utilizan en la remediación catalítica del agua. La revisión se realizó bajo las pautas de una revisión sistemática de literatura. Las nanopartículas de óxido de hierro tienen unas propiedades físicas y magnéticas destacadas, por ello las aplicaciones de las mismas son amplias tan variadas como en biomedicina, energía, remediación, catálisis entre otras. A continuación se presenta un enfoque general de los estudios publicados y seleccionados por año estableciendo una tendencia de crecimiento a lo largo del período de estudio. También se investigó el tipo de óxido de hierro teniendo como resultado que el más utilizado es la magnetita con más de la mitad de los estudios seleccionados. Los métodos de síntesis son muchos, siendo el más común la coprecipitación debido a su facilidad de producción. La remediación catalítica y la biomedicina son las aplicaciones con más publicaciones en los últimos cinco años con un desarrollo prometedor. En cuanto a la remediación catalítica, se encontró que las propiedades físicas y magnéticas más importantes para la caracterización de estas nanopartículas, siendo la forma esférica la más común con más de la mitad de los estudios. El tamaño y el material de recubrimiento son parámetros importantes para estos procesos, teniendo como preferencia pequeñas nanopartículas sin recubrimiento. Finalmente, la mayoría de los estudios reportaron valores bajos de coercitividad que indican un comportamiento superparamagnético con una observación que debe ser confirmada por una medición de baja temperatura así como la mayoría de los nanocatalizadores pueden separarse en el proceso catalítico debido a su alto nivel magnético.

Palabras clave: Nanopartículas de óxido de hierro; técnicas de síntesis; catalizadores magnéticos; degradación del colorante; oxidación avanzada; tratamiento de aguas; calentamiento por inducción magnética.

ABSTRACT

This systematic literature review studied the state of the art of iron oxide nanoparticles applied on catalytic remediation of water. The review was conducted under the PRISMA guidelines for systematic literature reviews. The iron oxide nanoparticles have outstanding physical and magnetic properties, for this reason their application fields are wide, for example for biomedical, energy, remediation or as catalyst. The number of studies published on iron oxide nanoparticles have increased establishing a linear growing trend through the period of study. The type of iron oxide was also investigated having as a result that the most used is magnetite with more than half of the studies. Various synthesis methods are applied, being the most common the co-precipitation due to its easiness of production. Also, applications of the iron oxides nanoparticles were reported to establish the most promising ones. Catalytic remediation and biomedicine are the applications with most publications in the last five years with a promising development. About catalytic remediation the most important physical and magnetic properties were reported being the spherical shape the most commonly used with more than half of the studies. The size and coating material are significant parameters for these processes, obtaining small nanoparticles with no-coating as the preferred material. Finally, most of the studies reported low values of coercivity indicating a superparamagnetic behavior. However, this property should be confirmed by low temperature measurement as well as the separation of the nanocatalysts during the catalytic processes due to their high magnetic saturation values.

Keywords: Iron oxide nanoparticles; synthesis techniques; magnetic catalysts; dye degradation; advanced oxidation; water treatment; magnetic induction heating.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	
Methodology	13
Inclusion and exclusion criteria	
Categories for the analysis and data coding	14
Results and Discussions	16
Catalytic Remediation	
Physical Properties of the nanoparticles.	
Magnetic Properties of the nanoparticles	
Conclusions	27
References	

TABLES INDEX

Table 1.Categories studied in each research questions	15
Table 2. Types of iron oxide reported on the selected studies (Z number=68)	18
Table 3. Synthesis methods of iron oxide nanoparticles	19
Table 4. Size of iron oxide nanoparticles for catalytic remediation.	21
Table 5. Comparison of different complexes degraded.	24
Table 6. Coercivity of iron oxide nanoparticles for catalytic remediation.	25

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Description of the Systematic Literature Review Guidelines.	13
Figure 2. Number of total and selected studies per year of publication (Z=total number)	17
Figure 3. Applications of Iron Oxide Nanoparticles	20
Figure 4. Different shapes of Iron Oxide Nanoparticles for catalytic remediation	22
Figure 5. Coating materials for iron oxide nanoparticles	23

INTRODUCTION

Global contamination has been getting worse day by day due to anthropogenic activities. For this reason, researchers have been trying to develop new methods and materials to mitigate this contamination. One of the most popular and abundant pollutants are dyes which are produced by many industrial activities such as textiles colouring, manufacturing of paints, among others [1]. The uncontrolled release of dyes to the environment and its difficult removal is a well-known issue. To solve this problem a promising technique is the use of engineered inorganic nanomaterials like iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs) which have been of great interest over the last two decades [2]–[4]. The use of IONPs in its different phases is of high importance and beneficial for many applications, being the most common in biomedicine. However their unique properties makes it really interesting for a wide range of applications, including catalytic remediation processes like dye degradation [5], [6].

IONPs present many advantages over conventional catalysts due to the easiness of surface modification which can allow the development of new nanostructured materials designed for specific catalytic processes. On the other hand, their magnetic properties such as coercivity, high magnetic saturation and superparamagnetism provide additional benefits to this material as it can be easily separated with an external magnet and present selective heating under the presence of an alternating magnetic field. These properties are promising for an improvement of environmental catalytic processes[7]–[9]. The different phases of iron oxides such as magnetite (Fe₃O₄) and maghemite (α -Fe₂O₃) influence the properties mentioned above [10]. In environmental catalytic applications it is advantageous to work with maghemite as magnetite is usually unstable and can be oxidized easily.

The preparation methods of the IONPs plays also an important role in the properties of the material. A wide variety of synthesis methods are applied, being the most common co-precipitation, solvothermal or hydrothermal methods, while the newest trends are in the investigation of green synthesis, sonoelectrochemical or electrochemical methods [5], [11]. Also, the use of eco-friendly solvents extracted from natural raw materials are being explored [12], [8]. The correct choice of the method are fundamental for controlling of the physical as well as enhancing the magnetic properties [13].

The aim of this review is to provide a well-structured guide for students and researchers involved with the synthesis, characterization, and application of IONPs. The aspects that are going to be analyzed in this review are the preparation methods of different size and shape IONPs and their application as water remediation agents. Moreover, key parameters of catalytic remediation processes using IONPs, like composition of the polluted effluents, and catalyst specifications will be analysed.

METHODOLOGY

This systematic literature review will be conducted under the guidelines proposed by [14]–[16] with some adaptations for chemical engineering.



Figure 1. Description of the Systematic Literature Review Guidelines.

Selection of journals

This step consists on the selection of relevant publications for the systematic review in a consistent way. To keep the process methodologically strong and scientifically consistent, a method has been defined in this research for selecting journals. A mental map was developed for a better understanding of the information about the structure, restrictions, databases, and search terms defined. The selection of the journals was made in two of the most important and recognized databases for engineering: Science Direct and Scopus. The definition of the research terms was defined in order to answer the research questions. The search terms chosen were (nanocatalyst OR

nanoparticles) AND ("iron oxide" OR Fe_3O_4 OR magnetite OR maghemite OR magnetic) AND ("preparation methods" OR "synthesis methods") these terms were searched in the title, abstract and keywords of the publications. The search terms seem to be too general, but the aim of this review is to give a general overview of the iron oxide nanoparticles with a focusing on catalytic remediation hence the publications found with the above terms about dye degradation were chosen too.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The general criteria for the SLR are studies published between 2015 and 2020. Also, studies that describe preparation methods and applications of iron oxide nanoparticles.

The specific criteria include studies that report the reactants, temperature of reaction, type of iron oxide formed. Moreover, studies that describe applications of iron oxide nanoparticles especially catalytic bioremediation and studies describing modifications, physical and magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles.

The exclusion criteria were determined and accordingly studies that reached these criteria were excluded studies not identified by "Articles" or "Reviews" in the databases selected and studies not classified as open access in the databases.

Categories for the analysis and data coding

The categories for the analysis of the retrieved articles were defined based on answering the three specific research questions. The use of these categories was used to group all the publications according to specific characteristics. The data was organized in a scientific datasheet for better organization and easier classification.

	What are the preparation methods, type of iron oxide formed and applications of the iron oxide nanoparticles?	What are the specific parameters of iron oxide nanoparticles that influence in catalytic remediation?	What are the parameters to consider in a degradation process?
Reported preparation methods.	Х		
Reported types of iron oxide	X		
Reported applications	Х		
Size		Х	
Coatings		Х	
Shape		Х	
Coercivity		Х	
Magnetic saturation		Х	
Reported complexes degraded			Х
Type of catalysts			Х
Degradation percentage			X
Time of degradation			X

Table 1.Categories studied in each research questions

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

General Approach

In this section the results obtained from conducting the review are reported and discussed with the considerations from the Figure 1. The results are analyzed from the retrieved articles according to the criteria from the methodology section. As a new promising type of material, the analysis of the results from Figure 2 shows how the number of studies published on iron oxide nanoparticles are increasing with time showing a higher percentage of studies in the year 2020.

The final selected studies were included following the methodology reported above. As a result, 85 of all studies were chosen from the selected databases after considering the studies that describe preparation methods, applications, as well as physical and magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles, especially in catalytic remediation. The tendency from the total studies is also maintained for the selected ones (Figure 2), which reinforces the idea that this topic keeps developing and new studies will be published in the following years. Moreover, it is clear that the use of iron oxide in many different applications has been increasing over the past decade as it is a great alternative to commonly used materials for medicine, environment, data recording, sensors, energy storage, catalysis, etc.



Figure 2. Number of total and selected studies per year of publication (Z=total number).

Regarding the "type of iron oxide", this category refers to the phases of iron oxide that formed the nanoparticles. These phases can be obtained by different synthesis methods in which parameters like reaction time, temperature, temperature ramp and surfactant play a fundamental role. The majority of nanoparticles are constituted by magnetite (Fe₃O₄) with more than half of the studies. Using magnetite as the main phase in iron oxide nanoparticles can lead to excellent magnetic properties compared with the other phases. Each type of iron oxide provides specific advantages depending on the field of application. In addition, in some studies, a mixture of phases such as magnetite-maghemite are observed in the nanoparticles, providing them with hybrid magnetic characteristics. One thing to consider is that many of these studies are not able to prove with 100 % certainty the production of this magnetite phase and they may be working with materials chemically degraded as magnetite is quite unstable and can be easily oxidized.

Sub-Category: Type	Percentage (%)	Studies
of iron oxide		
Magnetite	57.35	[9], [12], [13], [17]–[51]
Ferrite	16.18	[6], [52]–[61]
Hematite	10.29	[62]–[68]
Maghemite	8.82	[69]–[74]
Magnetite-Maghemite	4.41	[75]–[77]
Magnetite-Ferrite	1.47	[78]
Pyrite	1.47	[79]

Table 2. Types of iron oxide reported on the selected studies (Z number=68).

With respect to category "Synthesis Methods", Table 3 summarizes the results obtained in the last 5 years excluding reviews since most of them do no report the synthesis method in a specific manner. It can be seen that the most common synthesis method for iron oxide nanoparticles synthesis is by co-precipitation. On the other hand, thermal methods are the following most used ones in which techniques like hydrothermal, solvothermal, thermal decomposition and combustion method stands out over the recent years. Among the newly methods, microwave assisted synthesis combined with regular methods like thermal decomposition or the polyol procedure, constitute a step forward in the optimization of these processes due to its easy installation and reproducibility. The principal aspect of developing iron oxide nanoparticles by the co-precipitation method lays in the easiness of the procedure with few steps and also the particles that can be obtained are very stable in water unlike the particles using thermal decomposition method. The problem with the coprecipitation synthesis methods is that it is pretty difficult to obtain particles with a narrow size distributions. On the other hand, the high temperature used in thermal methods have the advantage of producing a controlled phase of the iron oxide and better size distributions. New methods have appeared with the need of using green solvents or reducing the byproducts and residues of the

synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles, for this reason green synthesis methods are being developed and they are gaining more reputation.

Sub-category: Synthesis	Percentage	Years of	Studies
method	(%)	publication	
Co-precipitation	27.27	2015-2020	[20], [21], [23], [27], [30]–[32],
			[34], [37], [39], [44], [47], [48],
			[50], [67], [68], [70], [80]–[82].
Hydrothermal	16.88	2015-2020	[6], [9], [24], [25], [30], [51],
			[54], [55], [62], [74], [83], [84]
Solvothermal	6.49	2016-2020	[22], [40], [41], [50], [69]
Microwave	7.79	2017-2018	[13], [33], [47], [52], [61], [75]
Thermal Decomposition	6.49	2016-2018	[43], [47], [57], [65], [85], [86]
Combustion Method	6.49	2016-2018	[17], [52], [58], [60], [61]
Precipitation	5.19	2017-2018	[43], [63], [66], [87]
Sol-Gel	5.19	2015-2020	[37], [68], [73], [77]
Green Synthesis	5.19	2016-2020	[12], [29], [36], [71]
Impregnation	3.90	2015-2017	[34], [73], [76]
Polyol	2.60	2015-2016	[53], [78]
Sonochemical	2.60	2018-2020	[42][45]
Ultrasound Probe	1.30	2019	[26]
Electro Synthesis	1.30	2017	[18]
Not specified	1.30	2018	[46]

Table 3. Synthesis methods of iron oxide nanoparticles.

The different applications of the iron oxide nanoparticles is another category analyzed in this systematic review. Figure *3* shows the results of different applications in the retrieved studies. Almost 50 % of the studies are divided between catalytic remediation and biomedicine. Water treatment, catalysis and electronic devices present around 10 % of the studies each, while 19 % of the studies do not specify their possible applications. And finally, one article studied the application as anticorrosion mechanism. In this review the application of interest is catalytic remediation because as seen in the selected studies, it is a rising subject of application. In the case of biomedicine, iron oxide nanoparticles are especially used for drug delivery and cancer

treatment. Another application that is increasing is water treatment since the properties of the nanoparticles fit for processes like adsorption and degradation of inorganic and organic pollutants. The reactions studied so far in catalysis are transesterification , while catalytic remediation represent the photocatalysis of dyes making them easy to removal.



Figure 3. Applications of Iron Oxide Nanoparticles. Catalytic Remediation ([12], [20], [23], [28], [44], [47], [53], [63], [65], [68], [69], [74], [83], [88]–[90][45]). Biomedicine ([6], [13], [22], [31], [43], [46], [48], [51], [52], [60]–[62], [82], [85], [91], [92]). Water Treatment ([29], [30], [32], [36], [40], [59], [71]). Catalysis ([21], [37], [50], [58], [73], [76], [78], [86]), Electronic Devices ([9], [25], [35], [41], [70], [78]). Anticorrosion Mechanism ([24]), Not specified ([17], [27], [38], [42], [55]–[57], [66], [75], [77], [79], [84], [93]).

Catalytic Remediation

The term catalytic remediation cane be explained as the use of catalysis processes for mitigation

of environmental issues. The main issue is the difficulty of removal of dyes that are present in

water. The difference between water treatment and catalytic remediation is the presence of catalytic reactions and not only the adsorption of pollutants. Photocatalysis is the main mechanism where with the use of solar light the photoreaction is accelerated causing the oxidation of the dyes. The product of this reaction is a new dye much easier to remove with classic methods used in water treatment plants.

Physical Properties of the nanoparticles.

The size of iron oxide nanoparticles applied in catalytic remediation are spread between smaller than 10 nm up to over 100 nm. The category "size of iron oxide nanoparticles" are shown in the Table 4 with the results that the 41.18 % of the studies have a particle size in the range from 1 to 10 nm followed by the 23.53% between 10 to 20 nm. As conclusion, the preferred sizes for catalytic remediation are usually in the very small range due to the high surface areas and the influence of the magnetic properties as well. Even though, the denomination of nanoparticles is given to particles between 1-100 nm, there are some studies that specify iron oxide nanoparticles above this limit. This denomination should be stated more carefully to avoid confusions. One important thing about using catalysts in the nanometric range is that they can provide the benefits of both homogenous and heterogeneous reactions, being very stable and well-dispersed in organic or aqueous media but also, they can be recovered for regeneration and reuse [65], [89].

Sub-Category: particle size	Percentage (%)	Studies
Between 1-10 nm	41.18	[44], [50], [53], [54], [69], [83]
Between 10-20 nm	23.53	[12], [20], [63], [94]
Between 20-30 nm	17.65	[65], [68], [90]
Over 100 nm	11.76	[28], [74]
Not specified	5.88	[45]

Table 4. Size of iron oxide nanoparticles for catalytic remediation.

Regarding the "Shape of iron oxide nanoparticles", Figure 4 shows that the preferred shape of the iron oxide for catalytic remediation is spherical with more than the half of studies. This can be explained by the surface area that is an essential factor in catalysis as materials with higher values present more active sites for chemical reactions. The shape is influenced by the synthesis method. A correlation between these two aspects would be important to identify.



Figure 4. Different shapes of Iron Oxide Nanoparticles for catalytic remediation. Spherical [12], [28], [44], [50], [53], [65], [67], [74], [83], [94]. Nanorods ([63], [68], [69]), Not specified ([20], [45], [88], [89][45])

Focusing on the "Coating Materials" of the review studies, Figure 5 shows that almost half of the studies do not report a coating with the 47.06 % of studies. The coating more used for catalytic remediation is silica followed by titania. All the materials reported in Figure 5 are inorganic, which leads to concluding that the best coatings for catalytic remediation are inorganic and no application of coatings. The coatings are well-combined with metal doping as many catalysts are prepared by metals such as palladium or platinum.



Figure 5. Coating materials for iron oxide nanoparticles. Silica([23], [44], [45], [74]), Titania ([44], [83]), Ceria ([89]), Zinc Oxide ([53]), Zirconia ([69]) None ([12], [50], [54], [63], [65], [67], [68]).

With respect to the type of dyes and complexes degraded, by the nanoparticles in the application of catalytic remediation study can report more than one dye degraded. The main dye degraded is methylene blue with the 26.32 % of the studies [44], [47], [54], [67], [74] followed by rhodamine B and methyl orange with 10.53 % for each one [12], [20], [53], [63], [65], [68]. The important aspects are the degradation percentage and the time that requires to achieve this percentage. Table *5*Table *5*. Comparison of different complexes degraded. shows that dyes are most of the complexes degraded and the percentages of degradation are around 80 % to 100 %. The time needed to reach the reported degradation is above 100 minutes. Most of the catalysts used for catalytic remediation are coated and functionalized by metals. Another industry that contributes to pollute the water are pharmaceutical which are contemplated by the degradation of antibiotics and 4-nitrophenol following the same tendency as dyes degradation but with a reduction of the reaction time. The importance of degradation is that most of the dyes and complexes are difficult to remove as

discharged. After degradation by the remediation reaction the molecules are shortened and the resulting compounds can be removed easier.

Complex Degraded	Type of Catalyst	Degradation (%)	Time	Studies
Tetracyclines chloride	Fe ₃ O ₄ -chitosan beads	85	120 min	[50]
	AgPt@y-Fe2O3/t-ZrO2	80	80 min	[69]
	ZnFe ₂ O ₄ @rGO	94.2	60 min	[88]
Mathylana Dhua	TiO ₂ @Fe ₃ O ₄ @C–NF	75-100	10 min	[83]
Methylene Blue	Ni@Fe ₃ O ₄	90	60 min	[12]
	α -Fe ₂ O ₃	99	270 min	[90]
	Fe ₃ O ₄ @SiO ₂	97	140 min	[44]
AB92	AgPt@y-Fe ₂ O ₃ /t-ZrO ₂	90	80 min	[69]
Dhadamina D	ZnFe ₂ O ₄ @rGO	49	60 min	[88]
Knodamme B	Ni@Fe ₃ O ₄	80	60 min	[12]
Antibiotics	TiO ₂ @Fe ₃ O ₄ @C–NF	80-100	125 min	[83]
Congo Rad	Ni@Fe ₃ O ₄	80	60 min	[12]
Coligo Ked	α -Fe ₂ O ₃	82	20 min	[63]
4 <i>H</i> -drobenzo[<i>b</i>]pyran	Fe ₃ O ₄ @SiO ₂ -guanidine- PAA	94	20-40 min	[23]
dihydropyrano[c]chromene	Fe ₃ O ₄ @SiO ₂ -guanidine- PAA	94	20-40 min	[23]
Rose Bengal	α-Fe ₂ O ₃	86	105 min	[63]
p-nitrophenol	Fe ₃ O ₄ @NH ₂ -mesoprous silica@PPy/Pd	94	180 s	[45]
Methyl Orange	Fe ₃ O ₄ @NH ₂ -mesoprous silica@PPy/Pd	99	600 s	[45]
Orange G	Fe ₃ O ₄ /CeO ₂	98	120 min	[34]
Malachite Green	ZnO@CoFe ₂ O ₄	100	120 min	[53]
Thymol Blue	ZnO@CoFe ₂ O ₄	100	120 min	[53]

Table 5. Comparison of different complexes degraded.

Magnetic Properties of the nanoparticles.

One of the main advantage of using iron oxide nanoparticles is that it is possible to enhance catalytic or extraction processes with their magnetic properties. This kind of materials can be easily separated by using an external magnet which presents a cost-efficient process that is less time-consuming common. Moreover, when dealing with superparamagnetic nanoparticles they can behave like normal materials with no remnant magnetization except when they are subjecting to a

magnetic field. Then they recover their magnetism and can be dragged towards the magnet [54]. Remarkably, when these particles are subjected to an alternating magnetic field, they present the ability to absorb the magnetic energy and dissipate it as heat which is an advantage for catalytic processes as usually reaction yields increase with the increasing temperature [44], [74].

With respect to the "Coercivity" category, Table 6 shows that almost half of the studies have a low coercivity which means a superparamagnetic behavior since there is no noticeable hysteresis in the magnetization loops [69], [83]. The remnant magnetization of this particles will probably lead to a magnetic aggregation that with time will decrease surface areas and catalytic activity of the material [23], [63]. Therefore, to improve catalytic processes it is better to perform reactions with superparamagnetic nanocatalysts. Also, a high percentage of the studies (47.06 %) did not specify the coercivity of the nanoparticles. It would be interesting to investigate more deeply about this issue due to the influence they have on catalysis.

Sub-Category: Coercivity	Percentage (%)	Studies
Between 0-12 Oe	47.06	[20], [23], [28], [34], [44], [74]
Over 12 Oe	5.88	[65], [68]
Not specified	47.06	[12], [45], [47], [54], [63], [67], [69], [83]

Table 6. Coercivity of iron oxide nanoparticles for catalytic remediation.

Regarding to the magnetic saturation of the studies, the results are wide with almost the half of them not specifying the influence of magnetic saturation [12], [28], [45], [50], [54], [63], [67], [69], [74], [83]. Magnetic saturation shows how magnetic a material can be, superparamagnetic nanoparticles present an interest behavior in which they only act like small magnets when subjected to a magnetic field. For this reason, the magnetic aggregation is probability reduced. Depending on the type of iron oxide the values of magnetic saturation are specific for each bulk

material [95], [96]. Adding coatings to the surface of the nanoparticles reduce the values of magnetic saturation of the nanoparticles. Different coatings can decrease magnetic saturation values, but it is important to maintain a value high enough for magnetic separation. In the selected studies all of them show values enough for magnetic separation [23], [34], [44], [53], [65], [68]. For other applications such as battery production or electronic devices high values of magnetic saturation could be a more valuable property because of the magnetization that can have which derived in more energy storage in addition to control the alternate current through the inductor that some devices can have [41], [70], [97], [98].

CONCLUSIONS

Here, an extensive systematic literature review was performed to analyze, synthesize, and describe the most recent studies performed on iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles. It was possible to develop a well-described guide for future studies and researchers that want to raid in this field of study. With all the information collected, it was possible to understand and describe the most common types of iron oxide nanoparticles, synthesis methods, coatings, magnetic features, and applications. Using iron oxide nanoparticles for different applications has become of great interest in the last decade. For catalytic remediation, processes like degradation with iron oxide nanoparticles are an emerging technology with excellent advantages against common methods. Specifically, and even though some of them fail to prove this affirmation, magnetite is the most common and used material as described in different studies. Moreover, for the preparation of this kind of materials it was possible to summarize an extensive list of techniques and it was possible to identify a new trend using green solvents extracted from plants in order to reduce the residues from the synthesis of the nanoparticles. This trend indicates the interest of making these synthesis processes more appropriate for future needs and applications. Catalytic remediation using IONPs is a promising technique for degradation of dyes and pharmaceutical complexes being the most common studied dye the methylene blue. The percentages of degradation are high for both type of compounds but with a significant shorter reaction time for degradation of pharmaceutical complexes. About magnetic properties, magnetic saturation should be carefully reported since coating diminishes it and can generate some confusion with the reported vales. Many publications talk about superparamagnetic properties of the nanoparticles but this properties should be confirmed by low temperature measurements. In conclusion, iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles are a promising material widely studied during the last five year and with great and growing future prospection.

REFERENCES

- [1] A. Tkaczyk, K. Mitrowska, and A. Posyniak, "Synthetic organic dyes as contaminants of the aquatic environment and their implications for ecosystems: A review," *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 717. Elsevier B.V., May 15, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137222.
- [2] A. G. Roca, L. Gutiérrez, H. Gavilán, M. E. Fortes Brollo, S. Veintemillas-Verdaguer, and M. del P. Morales, "Design strategies for shape-controlled magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles," *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, vol. 138, pp. 68–104, 2019, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2018.12.008.
- [3] M. I. A. Abdel Maksoud, A. M. Elgarahy, C. Farrell, A. H. Al-Muhtaseb, D. W. Rooney, and A. I. Osman, "Insight on water remediation application using magnetic nanomaterials and biosorbents," *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, vol. 403. Elsevier B.V., Jan. 15, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2019.213096.
- P. Xu *et al.*, "Use of iron oxide nanomaterials in wastewater treatment: A review," *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 424. pp. 1–10, May 01, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.02.023.
- [5] A. A. Abd Elrahman and F. R. Mansour, *Targeted magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: Preparation, functionalization and biomedical application*, vol. 52. Editions de Sante, 2019, pp. 702–712.
- [6] M. M. Cruz *et al.*, "Enhanced magnetic hyperthermia of CoFe2O4 and MnFe2O4 nanoparticles," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 703, pp. 370–380, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2017.01.297.
- [7] S. Liu, B. Yu, S. Wang, Y. Shen, and H. Cong, "Preparation, surface functionalization and application of Fe3O4 magnetic nanoparticles," *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 281. Elsevier B.V., Jul. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cis.2020.102165.
- [8] A. Ghosh, V. Srinivas, and R. Sundara, "Comprehensive structural and magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles synthesized through chemical routes," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 818, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2019.152931.
- [9] C. Han, D. Zhu, H. Wu, Y. Li, L. Cheng, and K. Hu, "TEA controllable preparation of magnetite nanoparticles (Fe3O4 NPs) with excellent magnetic properties," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 408, pp. 213–216, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.02.060.
- [10] H. Shokrollahi, "A review of the magnetic properties, synthesis methods and applications of maghemite," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 426. Elsevier B.V., pp. 74–81, Mar. 15, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.11.033.
- [11] S. Liu, B. Yu, S. Wang, Y. Shen, and H. Cong, "Preparation, surface functionalization and application of Fe3O4 magnetic nanoparticles," *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.*, vol. 281, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cis.2020.102165.
- [12] K. Pakzad, H. Alinezhad, and M. Nasrollahzadeh, "Green synthesis of Ni@Fe3O4 and CuO nanoparticles using Euphorbia maculata extract as photocatalysts for the degradation of organic pollutants under UV-irradiation," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 45, no. 14, pp. 17173– 17182, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2019.05.272.
- [13] E. M. Kostyukhin and L. M. Kustov, "Microwave-assisted synthesis of magnetite nanoparticles possessing superior magnetic properties," *Mendeleev Commun.*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 559–561, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.mencom.2018.09.038.
- [14] K. BA and S. Charters, "Guidelines for performing Systematic Literature Reviews in

Software Engineering," vol. 2, 2007.

- [15] J. Bacca, S. Baldiris, R. Fabregat, S. Graf, and Kinshuk, "Augmented reality trends in education: A systematic review of research and applications," *Educ. Technol. Soc.*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 133–149, 2014.
- [16] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, and D. G. Altman, "Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement," *J. Clin. Epidemiol.*, vol. 62, no. 10, pp. 1006–1012, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.005.
- [17] X. Wang *et al.*, "Effect of glycine on one-step solution combustion synthesis of magnetite nanoparticles," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 719, pp. 288–295, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2017.05.187.
- [18] M. Aghazadeh, I. Karimzadeh, and M. R. Ganjali, "Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid capped superparamagnetic iron oxide (Fe3O4) nanoparticles: A novel preparation method and characterization," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 439, pp. 312–319, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2017.05.042.
- [19] E. Yilmaz *et al.*, "TiO2 nanoparticles and C-Nanofibers modified magnetic Fe3O4 nanospheres (TiO2@Fe3O4@C–NF): A multifunctional hybrid material for magnetic solid-phase extraction of ibuprofen and photocataly," *Talanta*, vol. 213, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2020.120813.
- [20] G. Dodi, D. Hritcu, D. Draganescu, and M. I. Popa, "Iron oxide nanoparticles for magnetically assisted patterned coatings," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 388, pp. 49–58, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2015.04.011.
- [21] D. Lin *et al.*, "Morphological insights into the catalytic aquathermolysis of crude oil with an easily prepared high-efficiency Fe3O4-containing catalyst," *Fuel*, vol. 245, pp. 420–428, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.02.063.
- [22] Q. Jin, L. Liu, Y. Zheng, S. Wang, and M. Huang, "Synthesis, characterization, and luminescence properties of BiVO4:Eu3+ embedded Fe3O4@mSiO2 nanoparticles," *J. Lumin.*, vol. 215, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jlumin.2019.116677.
- [23] P. Mohammadi and H. Sheibani, "Synthesis and characterization of Fe 3 O 4 @SiO 2 guanidine-poly acrylic acid nanocatalyst and using it for one-pot synthesis of 4Hbenzo[b]pyrans and dihydropyrano[c]chromenes in water," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 228, pp. 140–146, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2018.11.058.
- [24] C. Zhang, Y. He, F. Li, H. Di, L. Zhang, and Y. Zhan, "h-BN decorated with Fe3O4nanoparticles through mussel-inspired chemistry of dopamine for reinforcing anticorrosion performance of epoxy coatings," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 685, pp. 743–751, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2016.06.220.
- [25] E. Mitchell *et al.*, "Probing on the hydrothermally synthesized iron oxide nanoparticles for ultra-capacitor applications," *Powder Technol.*, vol. 272, pp. 295–299, Mar. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.powtec.2014.12.021.
- [26] A. A. Lahcen, J. J. García-Guzmán, J. M. Palacios-Santander, L. Cubillana-Aguilera, and A. Amine, "Fast route for the synthesis of decorated nanostructured magnetic molecularly imprinted polymers using an ultrasound probe," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 53, pp. 226– 236, May 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2019.01.008.
- [27] A. Radoń *et al.*, "Structure and magnetic properties of ultrafine superparamagnetic Sndoped magnetite nanoparticles synthesized by glycol assisted co-precipitation method," *J. Phys. Chem. Solids*, vol. 145, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jpcs.2020.109530.
- [28] L. Zhang, X. Liu, M. Zhang, H. Yuan, L. Zhang, and J. Lu, "Facile construction of dual

functional Fe3O4@C-MoO2-Ni composites for catalysis and adsorption," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 494, pp. 783–794, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2019.07.249.

- [29] A. Sabín López, M. Paredes Ramos, R. Herrero, and J. M. López Vilarinõ, "Synthesis of magnetic green nanoparticle-Molecular imprinted polymers with emerging contaminants templates," *J. Environ. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 8, no. 4, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2020.103889.
- [30] Z. Liu, Z. Zhang, F. Hu, X. Duan, and X. Ye, "Adsorption performance and microstructural morphology of a novel magnetic composite adsorbent for removing Cd 2+ from water," *Microchem. J.*, vol. 146, pp. 1209–1217, May 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.microc.2018.12.042.
- [31] G. Choukrani, B. Maharjan, C. H. Park, C. S. Kim, and A. R. Kurup Sasikala,
 "Biocompatible superparamagnetic sub-micron vaterite particles for thermochemotherapy: From controlled design to in vitro anticancer synergism," *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, vol. 106, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2019.110226.
- [32] Z. T. Li *et al.*, "Effective preparation of magnetic superhydrophobic Fe 3 O 4 /PU sponge for oil-water separation," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 427, pp. 56–64, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2017.08.183.
- [33] T. Schneider *et al.*, "Facile microwave synthesis of uniform magnetic nanoparticles with minimal sample processing," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 421, pp. 283–291, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.07.063.
- [34] G. Gan, J. Liu, Z. Zhu, Z. Yang, C. Zhang, and X. Hou, "A novel magnetic nanoscaled Fe3O4/CeO2 composite prepared by oxidation-precipitation process and its application for degradation of orange G in aqueous solution as Fenton-like heterogeneous catalyst," *Chemosphere*, vol. 168, pp. 254–263, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.10.064.
- [35] D. D. Suppiah and S. B. Abd Hamid, "One step facile synthesis of ferromagnetic magnetite nanoparticles," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 414, pp. 204–208, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.04.072.
- [36] M. Stan *et al.*, "Removal of antibiotics from aqueous solutions by green synthesized magnetite nanoparticles with selected agro-waste extracts," *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.*, vol. 107, pp. 357–372, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.psep.2017.03.003.
- [37] G. Khoobbakht, K. Kheiralipour, W. Yuan, M. R. Seifi, and M. Karimi, "Desirability function approach for optimization of enzymatic transesterification catalyzed by lipase immobilized on mesoporous magnetic nanoparticles," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 158, pp. 253– 262, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.renene.2020.05.087.
- [38] A. K. Hauser, R. Mathias, K. W. Anderson, and J. Zach Hilt, "The effects of synthesis method on the physical and chemical properties of dextran coated iron oxide nanoparticles," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 160, pp. 177–186, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2015.04.022.
- [39] A. Shabanzadeh-Kouyakhi, A. Masoudi, and M. Ardestani, "Synthesis method of novel Gd2O3@Fe3O4 nanocomposite modified by dextrose capping agent," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 13442–13448, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2020.02.127.
- [40] J. Wu, H. Zhao, R. Chen, C. Pham-Huy, X. Hui, and H. He, "Adsorptive removal of trace sulfonamide antibiotics by water-dispersible magnetic reduced graphene oxide-ferrite hybrids from wastewater," *J. Chromatogr. B Anal. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.*, vol. 1029– 1030, pp. 106–112, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jchromb.2016.07.018.

- [41] S. Gu and A. Zhu, "Graphene nanosheets loaded Fe3O4 nanoparticles as a promising anode material for lithium ion batteries," J. Alloys Compd., vol. 813, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2019.152160.
- [42] A. Hajnorouzi and N. Modaresi, "Direct sono electrochemical method for synthesizing Fe3O4 nanoparticles," J. Magn. Magn. Mater., vol. 505, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2020.166732.
- [43] P. I. P. Soares, A. I. Sousa, I. M. M. Ferreira, C. M. M. Novo, and J. P. Borges, "Towards the development of multifunctional chitosan-based iron oxide nanoparticles: Optimization and modelling of doxorubicin release," *Carbohydr. Polym.*, vol. 153, pp. 212–221, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.07.109.
- [44] S. Dagher *et al.*, "Photocatalytic removal of methylene blue using titania- and silicacoated magnetic nanoparticles," *Mater. Res. Express*, vol. 5, no. 6, 2018, doi: 10.1088/2053-1591/aacad4.
- [45] Y. Snoussi, S. Bastide, M. Abderrabba, and M. M. Chehimi, "Sonochemical synthesis of Fe3O4@NH2-mesoporous silica@Polypyrrole/Pd: A core/double shell nanocomposite for catalytic applications," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 41, pp. 551–561, 2018, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2017.10.021.
- [46] G. S. An *et al.*, "Hollow-structured Fe3O4@SiO2 nanoparticles: Novel synthesis and enhanced adsorbents for purification of plasmid DNA," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 44, no. 15, pp. 18791–18795, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2018.07.111.
- [47] R. Rakhshaee and Y. Noorani, "Comparing three methods of simultaneous synthesis and stabilization of Fe3O4 nanoparticles: Changing physicochemical properties of products to improve kinetic and thermodynamic of dye adsorption," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 422, pp. 128–140, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.08.078.
- [48] D. F. Mercado, M. Cipollone, M. C. González, and F. H. Sánchez, "Yerba Mate applications: Magnetic response of powders and colloids of iron oxide nanoparticles coated with Ilex paraguariensis derivatives," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 462, pp. 13–21, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2018.04.048.
- [49] S. S. Pati *et al.*, "Magnetic chitosan-functionalized Fe<inf>3</inf>O<inf>4</inf>@Au nanoparticles: Synthesis and characterization," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 684, pp. 68–74, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2016.05.160.
- [50] X. Li *et al.*, "Heterogeneous Fenton-like degradation of tetracyclines using porous magnetic chitosan microspheres as an efficient catalyst compared with two preparation methods," *Chem. Eng. J.*, vol. 379, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cej.2019.122324.
- [51] J. Panda, B. S. Satapathy, S. Majumder, R. Sarkar, B. Mukherjee, and B. Tudu, "Engineered polymeric iron oxide nanoparticles as potential drug carrier for targeted delivery of docetaxel to breast cancer cells," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 485, pp. 165– 173, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2019.04.058.
- [52] K. Kombaiah, J. J. Vijaya, L. J. Kennedy, M. Bououdina, and B. Al-Najar, "Conventional and microwave combustion synthesis of optomagnetic CuFe<inf>2</inf>O<inf>4</inf> nanoparticles for hyperthermia studies," *J. Phys. Chem. Solids*, vol. 115, pp. 162–171, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jpcs.2017.12.024.
- [53] V. Jadhav, P. Chikode, G. Nikam, and S. Sabale, "Polyol synthesis and characterization of ZnO@CoFe2O4 MNP's to study the photodegradation rate of azo and diphenyl type dye," in *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 2016, vol. 3, no. 10, pp. 4121–4127, doi: 10.1016/j.matpr.2016.11.084.

- [54] M. L. Baynosa *et al.*, "Eco-friendly synthesis of recyclable mesoporous zinc ferrite@reduced graphene oxide nanocomposite for efficient photocatalytic dye degradation under solar radiation," *J. Colloid Interface Sci.*, vol. 561, pp. 459–469, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jcis.2019.11.018.
- [55] P. Vlazan, I. Miron, and P. Sfirloaga, "Cobalt ferrite substituted with Mn: Synthesis method, characterization and magnetic properties," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 3760– 3765, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2014.11.051.
- [56] D. O. Okoroh, J. Ozuomba, S. O. Aisida, and P. U. Asogwa, "Thermal treated synthesis and characterization of polyethylene glycol (PEG) mediated zinc ferrite nanoparticles," *Surfaces and Interfaces*, vol. 16, pp. 127–131, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.surfin.2019.05.004.
- [57] V. Daboin, S. Briceño, J. Suárez, and G. Gonzalez, "Effect of the dispersing agent on the structural and magnetic properties of CoFe2O4/SiO2 nanocomposites," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 451, pp. 502–506, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2017.08.043.
- [58] S. Alaei, M. Haghighi, J. Toghiani, and B. Rahmani Vahid, "Magnetic and reusable MgO/MgFe2O4 nanocatalyst for biodiesel production from sunflower oil: Influence of fuel ratio in combustion synthesis on catalytic properties and performance," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 117, pp. 322–332, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.03.015.
- [59] M. Ghobadi, M. Gharabaghi, H. Abdollahi, Z. Boroumand, and M. Moradian, "MnFe2O4graphene oxide magnetic nanoparticles as a high-performance adsorbent for rare earth elements: Synthesis, isotherms, kinetics, thermodynamics and desorption," *J. Hazard. Mater.*, vol. 351, pp. 308–316, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.03.011.
- [60] D. Gingasu *et al.*, "Synthesis of nanocrystalline cobalt ferrite through soft chemistry methods: A green chemistry approach using sesame seed extract," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 182, pp. 219–230, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2016.07.026.
- [61] M. Bini, C. Tondo, D. Capsoni, M. C. Mozzati, B. Albini, and P. Galinetto,
 "Superparamagnetic ZnFe<inf>2</inf>O<inf>4</inf> nanoparticles: The effect of Ca and Gd doping," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 204, pp. 72–82, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2017.10.033.
- [62] M. Tadic, D. Trpkov, L. Kopanja, S. Vojnovic, and M. Panjan, "Hydrothermal synthesis of hematite (α-Fe2O3) nanoparticle forms: Synthesis conditions, structure, particle shape analysis, cytotoxicity and magnetic properties," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 792, pp. 599–609, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2019.03.414.
- [63] D. E. Fouad, C. Zhang, T. D. Mekuria, C. Bi, A. A. Zaidi, and A. H. Shah, "Effects of sono-assisted modified precipitation on the crystallinity, size, morphology, and catalytic applications of hematite (α-Fe2O3) nanoparticles: A comparative study," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 59, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2019.104713.
- [64] M. Tadic *et al.*, "Magnetic properties of hematite (α Fe<inf>2</inf>O<inf>3</inf>) nanoparticles synthesized by sol-gel synthesis method: The influence of particle size and particle size distribution," *J. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 70, no. 7, pp. 71–76, 2019, doi: 10.2478/jee-2019-0044.
- [65] J. Wang, X. Shao, Q. Zhang, G. Tian, X. Ji, and W. Bao, "Preparation of mesoporous magnetic Fe2O3 nanoparticle and its application for organic dyes removal," *J. Mol. Liq.*, vol. 248, pp. 13–18, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.molliq.2017.10.026.
- [66] A. Lassoued, M. S. Lassoued, B. Dkhil, A. Gadri, and S. Ammar, "Synthesis, structural, optical and morphological characterization of hematite through the precipitation method:

Effect of varying the nature of the base," *J. Mol. Struct.*, vol. 1141, pp. 99–106, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.molstruc.2017.03.077.

- [67] J. Matmin, I. Affendi, S. I. Ibrahim, and S. Endud, "Additive-free rice starch-assisted synthesis of spherical nanostructured hematite for degradation of dye contaminant," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 8, no. 9, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.3390/nano8090702.
- [68] I. Abdulkadir, H. M. I. Abdallah, S. B. Jonnalagadda, and B. S. Martincigh, "The effect of synthesis method on the structure, and magnetic and photocatalytic properties of hematite (α-Fe<inf>2</inf>O<inf>3</inf>) nanoparticles," *South African J. Chem.*, vol. 71, pp. 68–78, 2018, doi: 10.17159/0379-4350/2018/v71a9.
- [69] S. Gholizadeh Khasevani, N. Faroughi, and M. R. Gholami, "Metal-organic frameworktemplated synthesis of t-ZrO2 /γ-Fe2O3 supported AgPt nanoparticles with enhanced catalytic and photocatalytic properties," *Mater. Res. Bull.*, vol. 126, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.materresbull.2020.110838.
- [70] M. Fadeev *et al.*, "Iron oxide @ gold nanoparticles: Synthesis, properties and potential use as anode materials for lithium-ion batteries," *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.*, vol. 603, p. 125178, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2020.125178.
- [71] M. Martínez-Cabanas, M. López-García, J. L. Barriada, R. Herrero, and M. E. Sastre de Vicente, "Green synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles. Development of magnetic hybrid materials for efficient As(V) removal," *Chem. Eng. J.*, vol. 301, pp. 83–91, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.cej.2016.04.149.
- [72] I. O. Pérez De Berti, J. F. Bengoa, S. J. Stewart, M. V. Cagnoli, G. Pecchi, and S. G. Marchetti, "Effect of activation atmosphere in the Fischer-Tropsch Synthesis using a 'quasi-model' catalyst of γ-Fe<inf>2</inf>O<inf>3</inf> nanoparticles supported on SBA-15," J. Catal., vol. 335, pp. 36–46, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jcat.2015.12.004.
- [73] T. Jiang *et al.*, "Synthesis of mesoporous γ-Fe2O3 supported palladium nanoparticles and investigation of their roles as magnetically recyclable catalysts for nitrobenzene hydrogenation," *Appl. Catal. A Gen.*, vol. 502, pp. 105–113, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.apcata.2015.05.013.
- [74] B. Seo, C. Lee, D. Yoo, P. Kofinas, and Y. Piao, "A magnetically recoverable photocatalyst prepared by supporting TiO2 nanoparticles on a superparamagnetic iron oxide nanocluster core@fibrous silica shell nanocomposite," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 7, no. 16, pp. 9587–9595, 2017, doi: 10.1039/c6ra27907d.
- [75] J. Seidlerová, O. Životský, K. Drobíková, and K. Mamulová Kutláková, "Modification of microwave assisted preparation of FexOy nanoparticles," *Mater. Today Proc.*, vol. 5, pp. S52–S60, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.matpr.2018.05.057.
- [76] M. Oćwieja *et al.*, "Preparation of iron oxide nanoparticles doped by chromium for application in water–gas shift reaction," *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.*, vol. 523, pp. 71–80, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2017.04.004.
- [77] S. Riaz, S. Z. H. Shah, Z. N. Kayani, and S. Naseem, "Magnetic and Structural Phase Transition in Iron Oxide Nanostructures," *Mater. Today Proc.*, vol. 2, no. 10, Part B, pp. 5280–5287, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2015.11.036.
- [78] S. Güner, M. Amir, M. Geleri, M. Sertkol, and A. Baykal, "Magneto-optical properties of Mn³⁺ substituted Fe<inf>3</inf>O<inf>4</inf> nanoparticles," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 41, no. 9, pp. 10915–10922, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2015.05.034.
- [79] M. John *et al.*, "Low-temperature synthesis of CuFeO<inf>2</inf> (delafossite) at 70 °c: A new process solely by precipitation and ageing," *J. Solid State Chem.*, vol. 233, pp.

390–396, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jssc.2015.11.011.

- [80] A. K. Hauser, R. Mathias, K. W. Anderson, and J. Zach Hilt, "The effects of synthesis method on the physical and chemical properties of dextran coated iron oxide nanoparticles," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 160, pp. 177–186, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2015.04.022.
- [81] M. Ghobadi, M. Gharabaghi, H. Abdollahi, Z. Boroumand, and M. Moradian, "MnFe2O4graphene oxide magnetic nanoparticles as a high-performance adsorbent for rare earth elements: Synthesis, isotherms, kinetics, thermodynamics and desorption," *J. Hazard. Mater.*, vol. 351, pp. 308–316, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.03.011.
- [82] S. S. Pati *et al.*, "Magnetic chitosan-functionalized Fe3O4@Au nanoparticles: Synthesis and characterization," *J. Alloys Compd.*, vol. 684, pp. 68–74, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2016.05.160.
- [83] E. Yilmaz *et al.*, "TiO2 nanoparticles and C-Nanofibers modified magnetic Fe3O4 nanospheres (TiO2@Fe3O4@C–NF): A multifunctional hybrid material for magnetic solid-phase extraction of ibuprofen and photocatalytic degradation of drug molecules and azo dye," *Talanta*, vol. 213, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2020.120813.
- [84] M. Tadic *et al.*, "Magnetic properties of hematite (α Fe2O3) nanoparticles synthesized by sol-gel synthesis method: The influence of particle size and particle size distribution," *J. Electr. Eng.*, vol. 70, no. 7, pp. 71–76, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.2478/jee-2019-0044.
- [85] T. Schneider *et al.*, "Facile microwave synthesis of uniform magnetic nanoparticles with minimal sample processing," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 421, pp. 283–291, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2016.07.063.
- [86] I. O. Pérez De Berti, J. F. Bengoa, S. J. Stewart, M. V. Cagnoli, G. Pecchi, and S. G. Marchetti, "Effect of activation atmosphere in the Fischer-Tropsch Synthesis using a 'quasi-model' catalyst of γ-Fe2O3 nanoparticles supported on SBA-15," *J. Catal.*, vol. 335, pp. 36–46, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jcat.2015.12.004.
- [87] M. John *et al.*, "Low-temperature synthesis of CuFeO2 (delafossite) at 70 °c: A new process solely by precipitation and ageing," *J. Solid State Chem.*, vol. 233, pp. 390–396, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jssc.2015.11.011.
- [88] M. L. Baynosa *et al.*, "Eco-friendly synthesis of recyclable mesoporous zinc ferrite@reduced graphene oxide nanocomposite for efficient photocatalytic dye degradation under solar radiation," *J. Colloid Interface Sci.*, vol. 561, pp. 459–469, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jcis.2019.11.018.
- [89] G. Gan, J. Liu, Z. Zhu, Z. Yang, C. Zhang, and X. Hou, "A novel magnetic nanoscaled Fe3O4/CeO2 composite prepared by oxidation-precipitation process and its application for degradation of orange G in aqueous solution as Fenton-like heterogeneous catalyst," *Chemosphere*, vol. 168, pp. 254–263, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.10.064.
- [90] J. Matmin, I. Affendi, S. I. Ibrahim, and S. Endud, "Additive-free rice starch-assisted synthesis of spherical nanostructured hematite for degradation of dye contaminant," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 8, no. 9, 2018, doi: 10.3390/nano8090702.
- [91] A. A. Lahcen, J. J. García-Guzmán, J. M. Palacios-Santander, L. Cubillana-Aguilera, and A. Amine, "Fast route for the synthesis of decorated nanostructured magnetic molecularly imprinted polymers using an ultrasound probe," *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, vol. 53, pp. 226– 236, May 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2019.01.008.
- [92] A. Shabanzadeh-Kouyakhi, A. Masoudi, and M. Ardestani, "Synthesis method of novel

Gd2O3@Fe3O4 nanocomposite modified by dextrose capping agent," *Ceram. Int.*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 13442–13448, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ceramint.2020.02.127.

- [93] M. Aghazadeh, I. Karimzadeh, and M. R. Ganjali, "Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid capped superparamagnetic iron oxide (Fe3O4) nanoparticles: A novel preparation method and characterization," *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.*, vol. 439, pp. 312–319, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2017.05.042.
- [94] P. Mohammadi and H. Sheibani, "Synthesis and characterization of Fe <inf>3</inf> O <inf>4</inf> @SiO <inf>2</inf> guanidine-poly acrylic acid nanocatalyst and using it for one-pot synthesis of 4H-benzo[b]pyrans and dihydropyrano[c]chromenes in water," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 228, pp. 140–146, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.matchemphys.2018.11.058.
- [95] N. Masunga, O. K. Mmelesi, K. K. Kefeni, and B. B. Mamba, "Recent advances in copper ferrite nanoparticles and nanocomposites synthesis, magnetic properties and application in water treatment: Review," *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, vol. 7, no. 3. Elsevier Ltd, Jun. 01, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2019.103179.
- [96] S. Liu, B. Yu, S. Wang, Y. Shen, and H. Cong, "Preparation, surface functionalization and application of Fe3O4 magnetic nanoparticles," *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 281. Elsevier B.V., Jul. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cis.2020.102165.
- [97] K. K. Kefeni, T. A. M. Msagati, and B. B. Mamba, "Ferrite nanoparticles: Synthesis, characterisation and applications in electronic device," *Materials Science and Engineering B: Solid-State Materials for Advanced Technology*, vol. 215. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 37–55, Jan. 01, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.mseb.2016.11.002.
- [98] E. Mitchell *et al.*, "Probing on the hydrothermally synthesized iron oxide nanoparticles for ultra-capacitor applications," *Powder Technol.*, vol. 272, pp. 295–299, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.powtec.2014.12.021.